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Unit 1
to be
We use the verb to be to give information about age, 
nationality, jobs, how we feel, etc.: I am twelve years old. 
He is Spanish. They are teachers.

We use a short form of to be in conversation:  
You’re funny. She’s my mother.

affirmative negative

I am / ’m am not / 
’m not

15 years 
old.

You are / ’re are not / 
aren’t

He / She / It is / ’s is not / 
isn’t

We / You / They are / ’re are not / 
aren’t

questions short answers

Are you / they happy? Yes, I am. / No, I’m not.

Is he / she / it happy? Yes, she is. / No, it isn’t.

Exercise
Complete the sentences with am, is, or are (not).
1 I am  seventeen.
2 You   from Portugal.
3 Joel   (not) Spanish.
4 Wendy   my cousin.
5 I   (not) six years old!
6 Tom and Janet   my grandparents.
7 It   (not) hot today.
8 A:   you the new student?
 B: Yes, I   .

Present simple
We use the present simple:
•	 to talk about facts or things that are always true: 

Water boils at 100°C.
•	 to describe something we do regularly:  

She goes to school at 8 o’clock.
•	 to talk about a permanent state: I live in Madrid.

affirmative negative

I / You / We / They like do not / 
don’t like

sport.

He / She / It knows does not /  
doesn’t 
know

my 
brother.

questions short answers

Do you / they like sport? Yes, I do. / No, they 
don’t.

Does he / she / it know my 
brother?

Yes, he does. / No, she 
doesn’t.

Exercises
 Complete the sentences with the present simple 

form of verbs from the box.

love   play   rain   teach   think   wash

1 My grandma loves  music.
2 Carl   his hair every day.
3 They   football on Saturdays.
4 I   you are great!
5 My uncle   English at my school.
6 It always   in April.

 Circle the correct options in italics in each of 
these sentences.
1 Do / Does you want some chocolate?
2 She don’t / doesn’t like school.
3 My parents don’t / doesn’t go on holiday.
4 Do / Does your uncle live with you?
5 I don’t / doesn’t play basketball.
6 Do / Does you want to meet my friends?

Adverbs of frequency

never sometimes often usually always
0%

100%

We use adverbs of frequency to answer the question 
How often ...?:  
I often play football after school. She’s usually at home in 
the evenings.
•	 We usually put adverbs of frequency after the verb to 

be: He’s always happy.
•	 With other verbs, adverbs of frequency go before the 

verb: I sometimes walk home.
•	 We put expressions of frequency at the beginning 

or the end of the sentence: Every summer we go to 
France. I play tennis three times a week.

•	 With negative sentences, adverbs of frequency come 
between don’t / doesn’t and the verb: She doesn’t 
usually get up early.

1

2
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Exercise
Complete the sentences with the present continuous 
form of the verb in brackets.
1 Dad is watching  (watch) TV in the living room.
2 Steve   (sit) in the kitchen.
3 I   (do) my homework in my bedroom.
4 Sam and Maria   (dance) in the garden.
5 The baby   (not sleep).
6   (you / write) an email?

have got

affirmative negative

I / You / We / 
They

have / ’ve got have not / 
haven’t got

a laptop.
He / She / It has / ’s got has not / 

hasn’t got

questions short answers

Have I / you / we / they 
got a laptop?

Yes, I have. / No, they 
haven’t.

Has he / she / it got a 
laptop?

Yes, he has. / No, she 
hasn’t.

Have got means the same as have in British English:  
I’ve got a new mobile. (= I have a new mobile.)  
We haven’t got any homework tonight.
We do not use has / have got with the past or future. 
Instead we use have: We had a party last week. not 
We had got a party last week.

Exercise
Complete the sentences with the correct form of 
have got.
1 Tina loves animals. She   three cats and two 

dogs.
2 We can’t play football. We   a ball.
3 I am very lucky. I   lots of good friends.
4 Mark wants to go out tonight, but he   any 

money.
5 A:   you   a pen?
 B: No, sorry. I   .

Unit 3
Countable and uncountable nouns
Nouns can be either countable or uncountable.
•	 Countable nouns are the names of things you can 

count: a banana, two plates, three tables.
•	 They can be singular or plural: one apple, two apples.
•	 We use a / an or a number with countable nouns: 

Here’s an apple.  
Can I have four bottles of water?

Exercise
Put the words in the correct order to make sentences.
1 is / always / Carl / for school / late
 Carl is always late for school.
2 do / never / your homework / You
  
3 usually / go shopping / don’t / We / on Fridays
  
4 hungry / is / always / My dog
  
5 the washing-up / don’t / We / do / often
  
6 sometimes / texts / send / in class / I 
  
7 twice a day / I / my teeth / brush
  

Unit 2
Present continuous
We use the present continuous to say what is 
happening now: I am reading my book. It’s raining.

affirmative negative

I am / ’m am not /  
’m not

going.We / You / They are / ’re are not / 
aren’t

He / She / It is / ’s is not / isn’t

questions short answers

Am I going? Yes, I am. / No, I’m 
not.

Are we / you / they going? Yes, we are. / No, they 
aren’t.

Is he / she / it going? Yes, he is. / No, she 
isn’t.

Spelling -ing forms

verb -ing form spelling rule

most verbs

add -ingwork working

play playing

verbs ending in -e
remove -e, 
add -ing

dance dancing

write writing

verbs ending one vowel, one consonant
double the 
consonant, 
add -ing

sit sitting

shop shopping
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•	 Uncountable nouns are the names of things you can’t 
count: water, butter, music.

•	 They do not have a plural form: money (not moneys).
•	 We don’t use a or an with uncountable nouns:  

We need bread. (not We need a bread.)

some and any
•	 We use some with plural countable nouns and 

uncountable nouns in affirmative sentences:  
There are some biscuits in the box.  
I’ve got some milk.

•	 We use any with plural nouns and uncountable nouns 
in negative sentences and questions:  
You haven’t got any vegetables.  
We don’t need any rice.  
Has she got any sandwiches?

•	 We can also use some in offers and requests:  
Would you like some ice cream?  
Can I have some cake, please?

Plurals
•	 For most words we just add -s to make a plural:  

apple – apples.
•	 For words ending in -s, -ch, -sh or -x we add -es: 

sandwich – sandwiches, box – boxes.
•	 For some words ending in -f or -fe we change the -f to 

-v and add -ves: wife – wives, half – halves.
•	 Some plurals are irregular: child – children, fish – fish, 

man – men, person – people.

Exercises
 Put the words in the box in the correct column.

biscuit   bread   burger   carrot   grape   
milk   rice   tea   

countable uncountable

burger bread

 Complete the sentences with a/an, some or any.
1 We haven’t got any  eggs.
2 I’ve got   orange in my bag.
3 Please can I have   coffee?
4 Are there   bottles of water in the fridge?
5 There’s   pizza on the table.
6 Would you like   apple juice?
7 I don’t want   onions.

1

2

How much / many; a few, a little, a lot
We use How much and How many to ask about 
quantity.
•	 We use How much with uncountable nouns:  

How much cheese have we got?
•	 We use How many with countable nouns:  

How many carrots have we got?

We use quantifiers to talk about quantity.
•	 A little means ‘not much’. We use it with uncountable 

nouns: I need a little milk.
•	 A few means ‘not many’. We use it with countable 

nouns: Can I have a few biscuits?
•	 A lot means a large quantity. We use it with countable 

and uncountable nouns:  
We’ve got a lot of bread, and a lot of apples.

•	 None means ‘not any’. We use it with countable and 
uncountable nouns:  
I wanted a slice of pizza but there was none.  
(= there wasn’t any)

Exercise
Circle the correct option in italics to complete the 
sentences.
1 How much / many bread do you want?
2 Don’t use a lot / a little of salt.
3 There are a few / much children in the playground.
4 I like a few / a lot of sugar in my coffee.
5 How much / many bottles of water do you drink every 

day?

Unit 4
Present continuous v. present simple
We use the present continuous to:
•	 talk about things that are happening now:  

I’m doing my homework.

We use the present simple to 
•	 talk about things that usually happen or that happen 

a lot:  
I usually do my homework in the evening.  
I do too much homework!

•	 talk about states with verbs like be, like, hate, have, 
want, love, know, understand:  
I like chocolate.  
I know how to dance.

Stative verbs
We do not usually use these verbs in the present 
continuous: like, love, hate, know, understand:  
I understand French. (not I’m understanding French.)
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Unit 5
Comparatives and superlatives 
We use comparative adjectives to compare two people or 
things: Daniel is taller than Simone.
We use superlative adjectives to compare one person or 
thing to the rest of its group:  
Daniel is the tallest in his class.

adjective comparative superlative

small smaller the smallest

fast faster the fastest

big bigger the biggest

fat fatter the fattest

pretty prettier the prettiest

happy happier the happiest

good better the best

bad worse the worst

interesting more interesting the most interesting

spelling rules

one syllable adjectives: add -er and -est

adjectives ending in vowel + consonant: double the 
consonant and add -er and -est

adjectives ending in -y: remove -y, add -ier and -iest

some adjectives are irregular

adjectives with three or more syllables: add more and 
the most

Exercise
Complete the conversations with the comparative 
and superlative forms of the adjective in brackets.
1 A:  Jerry is the fastest  runner in our 

school. (fast)
 B: No, he isn’t! I’m   than him.
2 A:  Football is   than tennis. 

(exciting)
 B:  No, it isn’t. I think tennis is   

game in the world.
3 A:  My shoes are   than your 

shoes. (big)
 B:  I know. I think you have   

feet in our family.
4 A:  This film is   than the last 

one. (funny)
 B: I agree. It’s   film ever.
5 A:  Is Susan   singer in our class? 

(bad)
 B: No. You’re   than she is!

Prepositions of time at, in, on
We use at for before clock times, the weekend, night, and 
for mealtimes and some holidays:  
I do my homework at the weekend.  
I go to bed at 9 o’clock.
We use in for parts of the day, and long time periods like 
months, seasons, and years:  
We sometimes go skiing in February.  
I play tennis in summer.
We use on for days and dates:  
I go shopping on Saturdays.  
My birthday is on 21st July.

Exercise
Put the words and phrases in the correct column.

6.30   autumn   Fridays   lunchtime   night   Saturday   
September   the 21st July   the evening   

at in on

Unit 6
have to
We use have to and has to to talk about things that are 
necessary:  
We have to wear a uniform at our school.  
My brother has to train for the marathon.

We use don’t have to and doesn’t have to to talk about 
things that are not necessary:  
You don’t have to get all the answers right.  
She doesn’t have to come if she doesn’t want to.

affirmative negative

I / You /  
We / They

have to don’t have to
study.

He / She / It has to doesn’t have to

questions short answers

Do I / you / 
we / they

have to work?

Yes, I do. / No, we don’t.

Does he / 
she / it

Yes, he does. / No, it 
doesn’t.
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We use the past continuous:
•	 to say what was happening at a time in the past:  

The children were sleeping at 10 o’clock last night.
•	 to talk about two things happening at the same time: 

Dad was cleaning the kitchen while mum was cooking 
dinner.

We can use the past simple and the past continuous 
together to say that one activity happened in the middle 
of another.
•	 We use the past continuous with when or while  

to connect it with the past simple:  
When I got home, my parents were sleeping. /  
I got home while my parents were sleeping.
We were watching TV when the lights went out. /  
The lights went out while we were watching TV.

We make the past continuous with was / were + -ing 
form of the verb: We were playing football.

affirmative negative

I / He / She / It was was not / 
wasn’t

reading.
We / You / They were were not / 

weren’t

questions short answers

Was I / he / she / it

talking?

Yes, he was. /  
No, she wasn’t.

Were you / we / they Yes, you were. / 
No, they weren’t.

Exercise
Circle the correct option in italics in each of these 
sentences.
1 I was doing / did my homework when my friend was 

calling / called.
2 While Marie was walking / walked to school it was 

starting / started to rain.
3 At 8.05 am, dad was reading / read the newspaper 

and my brother was eating / ate breakfast.
4 Jake was watching / watched a film when his mobile 

phone was ringing / rang.
5 My pencil was breaking / broke while I was writing / 

wrote a note.

can / can’t, could / couldn’t
To talk about ability we use can, can’t, could and 
couldn’t.
•	 We use can / can’t to talk about ability in the present: 

I can play the guitar. You can’t run very fast.
•	 We use could / couldn’t to talk about ability in the past:  

She could walk when she was one year old.  
I tried, but I couldn’t finish the meal.

Exercise
Complete the conversation with the past simple form 
of the verbs in brackets.
A: It (1)   (be) my birthday yesterday!
B: (2)   (you / go) anywhere nice?
A: Yes, I did. My best friend and I (3)   (go)  

to a club.
B: (4)   (it / be) fun?
A: Yes! We (5)   (dance) until late, and I  

(6)   (meet) some very nice people.
B:  What time (7)   (you / get) home?
A: I (8)   (not / get) home until midnight!

Imperatives
We use imperatives for 
•	 instructions: Turn left at the lights.
•	 advice: Don’t worry about the test.
•	 orders: Stop talking.
•	 requests: Please don’t shout.
•	 invitations: Come to my party.

•	 To tell somebody to do something we use the 
infinitive without to: Come here.

•	 To tell somebody not to do something we use Don’t 
and the infinitive without to: Don’t be late.

Exercise
Write imperatives for these situations. Use the verbs 
in brackets. 
1 This pizza is terrible! (eat)
 Don’t eat it.
2 I’m really hungry. (cook)
  
3 This jacket is old. (buy) 
  
4 This video game is boring. (play)
  
5 The new student looks unhappy. (look after)
  
6 I don’t like this music. (turn off)
  

Unit 8
Past continuous
We use the past simple to describe:
•	 actions or events that happened in the past and are 

now finished:  
I walked to school this morning.

•	 actions or events that happened one after another:  
I did my homework, then I went to bed.
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Exercises
 Complete the table with the verbs in the box.

enjoy   help   hope   love   offer   stop   want   

verb + to 
infinitive

verb + -ing 
form

verb + to infinitive 
or -ing form

decide   
  hate

 mind like

 finish start

 prefer

promise

need

learn

 Circle the correct option in italics in each of these 
sentences.
1  Thank you for helping / to help me.
2 Would you like coming / to come to a concert  

with us?
3 I’m very pleased to meet / meeting you.
4 Carol doesn’t mind getting / to get up early.
5 We enjoyed to stay / staying in the hotel.
6 I want to learn to play / playing the piano.

The future with will
We use will / won’t:
•	 to talk about what we think will happen in the future: 

I think Sam will love her present.  
It won’t be a very nice day tomorrow.

•	 for decisions we make at the time of speaking:  
I’ll have a large lemonade, please.  
OK, I won’t tell anyone.

•	 We form the future with will / won’t + infinitive 
without to:  
We won’t be home before midnight.  
You will enjoy this DVD.

•	 We often use will / won’t with I think, I hope, I’m sure: 
I’m sure everything will be fine.  
I think the teacher will like this.  
I hope she won’t mind.

•	 We often use will / won’t with maybe, probably and 
perhaps:  
It will probably snow this weekend.  
Perhaps we’ll go to a restaurant.  
Maybe they won’t want to come with us.

•	 We put probably after will, but before won’t:  
I will probably go to the party.  
I probably won’t go to the party.

1

2

•	 Can / can’t and could / couldn’t are followed by the 
infinitive without to:  
I can play the guitar.  
We couldn’t see the house.

•	 Can / can’t and could / couldn’t do not change with  
he / she / it:  
He can speak Chinese.  
She can’t do this exercise.  
He could read when he was four years old.  
She couldn’t swim last year, now she can.

•	 We make questions with Can / Could + subject + 
infinitive without to.  
Can you cook?  
Could your grandfather drive a car?

Exercise
Complete the sentences with can, can’t, could or 
couldn’t and a verb from the box.

hear   play   see   send   use   

1 I   emails with my new phone. It’s 
fantastic!

2 When Jake broke his leg he   
football for three months.

3 Speak louder, please. I   you.
4 It was a dark night, but Tracy    

a white cat in the garden.
5 You   your phones here because 

they won’t work.

Unit 9
Verbs with -ing or to infinitive
Some verbs are followed by the to infinitive of another 
verb: I chose to go to the photography exhibition.  
Other verbs like this include: help, hope, offer, want.

Some verbs are followed by the -ing form of another 
verb: I finished reading the book.  
Other verbs like this include: enjoy, mind, stop.

Some verbs are followed by the -ing form of another verb 
or the to infinitive with no change in meaning: She loves 
swimming in the sea. / She loves to swim in the sea.  
Other verbs like this include: begin, continue, like, hate.

When we use an adjective to say what we think or feel, it 
is usually followed by the to infinitive:  
I’m happy to help.  
She was surprised to see him.

When we have a verb + preposition, it is always 
followed by the -ing form:  
Are you interested in studying Chinese?  
I’m afraid of meeting new people.
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must / mustn’t
We use must / mustn’t to talk about:
•	 obligation (something we have to do):  

We must wear a uniform to school. (= school uniform 
is compulsory)  
You mustn’t smoke in a hospital. (= you are not 
allowed to smoke in a hospital)

•	 strong advice:  
You must drink water when you do exercise.

We don’t usually form questions with must as it sounds 
very formal. We use have to instead:  
Must we wear a uniform? Do we have to wear a uniform?
There is no past tense of must. We use had to instead: 
We had to be home before 8 o’clock when we were 
children.

Exercise
Rewrite the sentences with must or mustn’t.
1 Do your homework! 
 You must do your homework.
2 Don’t talk! 
  
3 Tidy your room! 
  
4 Don’t take photos here! 
  
5 Turn off your mobile! 
  
6 Don’t touch the paintings! 
  

Unit 11
First conditional
We use the first conditional to talk about things that 
will or won’t happen in a possible situation:
If I see Simone,  I’ll tell her about the party.
(possible situation) (possible result)
You won’t pass the test  if you don’t study.
(possible result) (possible situation)

We form the first conditional with:
if + present tense, and will or won’t + infinitive:  
If they don’t run faster, they’ll lose.
We can put the if-clause at the beginning or the end of 
the sentence. When it is at the beginning of the sentence, 
we put a comma after the if-clause:  
If you like funny films, you’ll love this.

Exercise
Complete the sentences with will or won’t and the 
verb in brackets.
1 Daniella   (know) the answer to 

this question.
2 We   (not have) time to eat 

breakfast before we go.
3   (you win) the match tomorrow?
4 The teacher   (choose) the best 

story next week.
5 You   (not find) a cheaper bicycle 

than this.

Unit 10
going to
We use going to to talk about:
•	 future plans: I’m going to go to bed at 10 pm tonight.
•	 predictions when something in the present helps us to 

see what will happen in the future:  
Look at the sky. It’s going to be a beautiful day.

affirmative negative

I am / ’m am not /  
’m not going to 

walk to 
school.

He / She / It is / ’s is not / isn’t

You / We / They are / ’re are not /  
aren’t

questions short answers

Am I

going to see 
a film?

Yes, I am. /  
No, I’m not.

Is he / she / it Yes, he is. / 
No, she isn’t.

Are you / we / they Yes, you are. /  
No, they aren’t.

Exercise
Complete the sentences with (be) going to and a verb 
from the box.

do   not eat   enjoy   not go   play   ride   

1 I ‘m not going to go  to the beach today. It’s too 
cold.

2   you   volleyball 
this weekend?

3 Juan   his bike to school every day 
next week.

4 This chicken isn’t cooked! I   it.
5 What   the children 

  when they finish school today?
6 You   this film. It’s really exciting.
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•	 We do not use not with nothing or nobody:  
There was nothing to eat. (not There wasn’t nothing 
to eat.)  
There was nobody at home. (not There wasn’t nobody 
at home.)

•	 We always use an affirmative verb with nothing and 
nobody / no one:  
I saw nothing. (not I didn’t see nothing.)  
She knew nobody at the party. (not She didn’t know 
nobody at the party.)

Exercise
Rewrite the sentences using the word in bold.
1 My glass is empty.
 nothing
 There is nothing in my glass.
2 A person is waiting for you.
 someone
  
3 Do you know any people in this room?
 anyone
  
4 We all love music.
 everyone
  
5 There isn’t anyone at home.
 nobody
  
6 There’s nothing to do here.
 anything
  
7 Jake ate all the things on his plate.
 everything
  

Unit 12
Present perfect
We use the present perfect to talk about past 
experiences: I have seen this film. She hasn’t passed her 
final exams.
•	 We do not say when the experience happened:  

We have travelled hundreds of miles.  
I’ve seen George Clooney.

•	 We use the present perfect to describe something that 
started in the past and continues into the present:  
I’ve lived here for a year.

•	 We often use ever to ask questions about experiences: 
Have you ever ridden a motorbike?

•	 We often use never to talk about things we have not 
experienced: Maria has never been ill in her life.

Exercise
Complete the sentences with the correct form of the 
verbs in brackets.
1 You   (feel) better if you   (stop) 

eating so much.
2 If you   (not eat) enough at breakfast, you 

  (be) hungry before lunch.
3 If it   (rain) tomorrow, I   (stay) at 

home.
4 We   (not be) late if we   (leave) 

now.
5 I   (help) him if he   (ask) me.
6 If they   (not want) to go to the match, I 

  (go) on my own.

something, anything, nothing, etc.
someone / somebody
We use someone / somebody for a person who we don’t 
know:
I can see somebody in the garden.

something
•	 We use something for a thing which we don’t know: 

Something has happened to my computer.
•	 We sometimes use something when making offers: 

Would you like something to eat?

anyone / anybody
We use anyone / anybody for people in questions and 
negatives:  
Is there anybody at home?  
I don’t know anyone at this party.

anything
We use anything for things in questions and negatives: 
Did you hear anything?  
I haven’t got anything in my bag.

no one / nobody
We use no one / nobody as the negative of somebody: 
Nobody came to my birthday party.

nothing
We use nothing as the negative of something:  
I’m sorry. There is nothing we can do to help.

everyone / everybody
We use everyone / everybody to mean all of a number of 
people:  
Everybody is friends with Matt.  
When she speaks, everyone listens.

•	 With all these words, we always use a third person 
singular verb: Everyone is here. (not Everyone are here.)
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 Complete the sentences with the past simple 
passive of the verb in brackets.
1 This café was opened  (open) 

last year. 
2 I   (give) this book 

by my grandfather. 
3 My shoes   (make) 

in Portugal. 
4 Tina and Jane   

(choose) for the school football team. 
5 You   (tell) about 

the test last week! 

Present perfect with just / already / yet
We use the words just, already and yet with the present 
perfect to talk about things that have happened before 
now, but have a connection with the present.
•	 We use just for something that happened a very short 

time ago:  
I’ve just spoken to Mark.

•	 We use already for something that happened before 
now – often when we are surprised that it happened 
so soon:  
You’ve finished your lunch already!

•	 We use yet for something that has not happened: 
They haven’t gone to bed yet.

•	 We also use yet to ask if something has happened: 
Have you met my brother yet?

•	 We put just between have and the past participle:  
I’ve just called you.

•	 Already usually comes between have and the past 
participle but it can also come at the end of the 
sentence:  
She’s already left. / She’s left already.

•	 We put yet at the end of the sentence:  
It isn’t time to go home yet.

Exercise
Circle the correct option in italics in each of these 
sentences.
1 Have you seen this film just / yet?
2 We have already / yet heard the news.
3 Dan has just / yet gone to bed.
4 I haven’t done my homework already / yet.
5 It’s only six o’clock, and my parents have already / yet 

gone out.

2
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11 They plan to leave home at

 A 8.15.

 B 9.45.

 C 10.30.

12 How will they get to the museum?

 A by bus

 B by car

 C by bike

13 At the museum, Jack wants to see the

 A latest computers.

 B model dinosaurs.

 C old cars.

14 They decide to buy their mum

 A a book.

 B a scarf.

 C a picture.

15 What does Jack want to eat in the café?

 A biscuits

 B cake

 C ice cream
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Exam practice
Give your own answers to these questions.

1 What’s your name?

2 Can you spell your surname for me?

3 Where do you come from?

4 Do you study English?

5 How many English classes do you have every week?

6 What is your favourite lesson at school?

7 Do you like watching TV?

8 What kind of programmes do you like?

9 Tell me about your family.

10 Tell me about your hobbies.
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